A. INTRODUCTION 

Basher Mohamed and Mohamud Ahmed were charged with first 

degree robbery. Mr. Ahmed moved to sever his trial from Mr. 

Mohamed's in anticipation of the State seeking to admit Mr. 

Mohamed's telephone calls to the victim that directly implicated Mr. 

Ahmed. The trial court denied severance and, over Mr. Ahmed's 

repeated objections and renewals of the severance motion, admitted Mr. 

Mohamed's statements. As a result, Mr. Ahmed's right to confrontation 

under the United States and Washington Constitutions was violated 

necessitating reversal of his conviction and remand for a new trial. 

B. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR 

In violation of the Confrontation Clause of the United States and 

Washington Constitutions, the trial court erred in admitting statements 

by the codefendant where the codefendant did not testify and the 

statements directly implicated Mr. Ahmed. 

C. ISSUE PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR 

The Confrontation Clause bars admission of a codefendant' s 

out-of-court statements at a joint trial where the codefendant does not 

testify and the statement directly implicates the defendant. 
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D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

On December 9, 2013, at about 10 p.m., Abdirisak Hashi, a 

native of Somalia, went to Waid's on Jefferson Street in Seattle, where 

many Somalis gather socially. 6/12/2014RP 16, 21. Mr. Hashi drove 

his 2002 Honda Accord and parked it on 15th A venue and Jefferson 

Street in Seattle. 6/12/2014RP 24. Mr. Hashi was at Waid's 

approximately two to two and one-half hours. 6/12/2014RP 35. While 

at Waid's, Mr. Hashi was greeted by codefendant, Basher Mohamed. 

6/21/2014RP 35. Mr. Hashi knew Mr. Mohamed because Mr. Hashi 

and Mr. Mohamed's sister dated for a time. 6/12/2014RP 18. 

Accompanying Mr. Mohamed was appellant, Mohamud Ahmed. 

6/21/2014RP 19. Mr. Hashi did not know Mr. Ahmed but had met him 

on a prior occasion. 6/12/2014RP 19. 

At some point in the evening, Mr. Hashi drove Mr. Mohamed 

and Mr. Ahmed to a nearby shisha bar. 1 6/21/2014RP 36. The three 

stayed at the shisha bar for a bit and then returned to Waid's and parked 

in the same location. 6/12/2014RP 37-38. 

Mr. Hashi stayed at Waid's for approximately another hour 

alone before deciding to leave. 6/12/2014RP 40-41. According to Mr. 

1 "Shisha" is an Arabic water pipe similar to a Hookhah, in which flavored 
tobacco is smoked. http://en.wiktionary.org/wiki/shisha. 
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Hashi, as he was in the driver's seat attempting to start the car, Mr. 

Ahmed entered the car and grabbed the keys from Mr. Hashi's hands. 

6/12/2014RP 43. Mr. Hashi claimed Mr. Ahmed threw the keys to Mr. 

Mohamed, who punched Mr. Hashi in the mouth, causing a wound 

which required four stitches. 6/12/2014RP 43-49. Mr. Mohamed and 

Mr. Ahmed drove away with Mr. Mohamed driving. 6/12/2014RP 44-

46. The car was later discovered abandoned and totaled in Tukwila. 

6/12/2014RP 53. 

Mr. Hashi identified Mr. Mohamed to the police as one of the 

people he claimed took his car. 6/12/2014RP 120. Mr. Hashi 

subsequently identified Mr. Mohamed in a police photo montage. 

6/12/2014RP 208-09. 

On December 17, 2013, Mr. Hashi contacted the King County 

Sheriffs Office after observing a person he believed to be involved 

with Mr. Mohamed in taking his car. 6/12/2014RP 57-59. Sheriffs 

deputies detained Mr. Ahmed and later arrested him for outstanding 

warrants. 6/12/2014RP 200-01. Mr. Ahmed's fingerprint was later 

discovered in Mr. Hashi's car. 6/16/2014RP 107. 

Mr. Mohamed and Mr. Ahmed were charged together with first 

degree robbery. CP 40-41. Prior to trial, in limine, Mr. Ahmed moved 
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to sever his trial from Mr. Mohamed's on the ground that the State 

sought to admit jail telephone calls in which Mr. Mohamed instructed 

his girlfriend to urge Mr. Hashi not to testify. CP 48-54; 6/9/2014RP 

93. In addition, the State sought to admit a jail telephone call between 

Mr. Mohamed and Mr. Hashi where Mr. Mohamed implicated Mr. 

Ahmed. CP 48-54, CP Supp_, Sub. No. 66, Exhibit 9, 27; 

6/9/2014RP 93. In this telephone call on December 17, 2013, Mr. 

Mohamed is heard telling Mr. Hashi that he will help him "get the other 

guy," referring to Mr. Ahmed. 6/9/2014RP 89-90; 6/12/2014RP 60-68. 

Basher talk to me. He said, "I will be in jail 20 years if 
you show up the [sic] court. Don't show up at the court." 
Uh, and then, "I will go to trial and it will be dismissed. 
Of (inaudible) of God, I did not take your car. The other 
guy is in jail. He was in jail, but this guy was outside. 
Uh, uh, the other guy is in jail, he's a motherfucker. Uh, 
and I can work with you to find him and to prove 
(phonetic) him. Uh, don't come to court otherwise I will 
be in jail 20 years." 

6/12/2014RP 68 (emphasis added). The trial court refused to sever the 

trials, but agreed to instruct the jury that the jail telephone calls were to 

be used solely against Mr. Mohamed. 6/9/2014RP 95. 

On June 16, 2014, Mr. Ahmed renewed his motion to sever the 

defendants and exclude the telephone calls on the ground that he did 

not have the ability to cross-examine Mr. Mohamed about his 

4 



statements. 6/16/2014RP 16-17. The court again denied the motion and 

reminded itself to instruct the jury that the telephone calls were to be 

used only against Mr. Mohamed. 6/16/2014RP 17. 

Later that same day of trial, the State admitted a telephone call 

by Mr. Mohamed made on December 31, 2013, in which he stated: 

"Tell him the other guy did it. And he was high and crashed the car[.]" 

CP Supp_, Sub. No. 66, Exhibit 27; 6/12/2014RP 37. Mr. Ahmed 

renewed his motion to sever, noting Mr. Mohamed's statements 

implicated him. 6/12/2014RP 80-82. The court denied the motion. 

6/12/2014RP 83. 

Upon the State resting its case, Mr. Ahmed again renewed his 

motion to sever and the court again denied the motion. 6/l 7/2014RP 

42-43. Consistent with its earlier rulings, the court instructed the jury 

that Mr. Mohamed's statements were to be used only against him. 

6/17/2014RP 56-57. 

The jury convicted Mr. Mohamed and Mr. Ahmed as charged. 

CP 69; 6/17/2014RP 115. 
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E.ARGUMENT 

Admission Of Mr. Mohamed's Hearsay Statements 
Implicating Mr. Ahmed Violated Mr. Ahmed's Right To 
Confrontation 

1. The Confrontation Clause bars the admission of a 
non-testifying codefendant which implicates the 
defendant. 

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution and 

article I, section 22 of the Washington Constitution guarantees criminal 

defendants the right to confront and cross-examine witnesses. A 

criminal defendant is denied the right of confrontation when a 

nontestifying codefendant's confession that names the defendant as a 

participant in the crime is admitted at a joint trial, even where the court 

instructs the jury to consider the confession only against the 

codefendant. Bruton v. United States, 391 U.S. 123, 135-36, 88 S.Ct. 

1620, 20 L.Ed.2d 4 76 (1968). The Bruton Court recognized the 

"powerfully incriminating" effect of the extra judicial statements of a 

codefendant "who stands accused side-by-side with the defendant." 

Ibid. Violations of the Confrontation Clause are reviewed de nova. 

State v. Fisher,_ Wn.App. _, 338 P.3d 897, 899 (2014). 

However, no violation of the confrontation clause occurs by the 

admission of a nontestifying codefendant's confession where the trial 
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court gives a proper limiting instruction and where the confession is 

redacted to eliminate not only the defendant's name, but any reference 

to his existence. Richardson v. Marsh, 481 U.S. 200, 211, 107 S.Ct. 

1702, 95 L.Ed.2d 176 (1987). Any such redaction must be more than an 

obvious blank space or other similarly obvious indications of alteration. 

Gray v. Maryland, 523 U.S. 185, 192, 118 S.Ct. 1151, 140 L.Ed.2d 294 

(1998). 

"Under Bruton, a criminal defendant may be entitled to 

severance if (1) his codefendant implicates him in a confession, (2) the 

confession is introduced into evidence without sufficient redaction, and 

(3) the defendant who confessed does not testify and is, therefore, not 

subject to cross-examination." State v. Johnson, 147 Wn.App. 276, 

288-89, 194 P.3d 1009 (2008). 

A claim of a violation of the defendant's right to confrontation 

by admitting a codefendant's statement is reviewed de novo. State v. 

Larry, 108 Wn.App. 894, 901-02, 34 P.3d 241 (2001). 

To comply with the Bruton rule, the Washington Supreme Court 

adopted CrR 4.4( c ), which provides that a motion for severance must 
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be granted unless the State elects not to offer the statement, or the State 

deletes all references to the defendant. 2 

Here, the trial court denied Mr. Ahmed's motion to sever and 

refused to redact the statement, despite the statements making a 

reference to Mr. Ahmed ("the other guy"), and instead relied solely on 

the limiting instruction to attempt to cure any prejudice Mr. Ahmed 

may have suffered. This was error and the court's instruction could not 

cure the taint. 

2. Mr. Mohamed's hearsay statement implicated Mr. 
Ahmed. 

In determining whether a redacted statement by a codefendant 

cures any error under Bruton, the question is not the precise words used 

in a redaction, but whether the redaction is sufficient to protect the 

defendant from the prejudice of a statement he cannot cross-examine. 

That is, to prevent the jury from concluding that the redacted reference 

2 CrR 4.4 states in relevant part: 

(1) A defendant's motion for severance on the ground that an out
of-court statement of a codefendant referring to him is inadmissible 
against him shall be granted unless: 

(i) the prosecuting attorney elects not to offer the statement in 
the case in chief; or 

(ii) deletion of all references to the moving defendant will 
eliminate any prejudice to him from the admission of the 
statement. 
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is obviously to the codefendant, making it impossible for the jury to 

comply with the court's instruction to consider the evidence only 

against the defendant who made the statements. 

In State v. Vincent, the State charged Vidal Vincent with 

attempted murder and assault stemming from a drive-by shooting. 131 

Wn.App. 147, 150, 120 P.3d 120 (2005), review denied, 158 Wn.2d 

1015 (2006). As he awaited trial, Mr. Vincent's codefendant confessed 

to Jason Speek, another jail inmate, simultaneously incriminating Mr. 

Vincent. Id. at 150-51. Over Mr. Vincent's objection, the trial court 

allowed the State to introduce the codefendant's statements via Speek's 

testimony, provided that all references to Vincent were omitted. Id. at 

151. Speek testified that Mr. Vincent's codefendant told him that the 

codefendant and "the other guy" had been involved in an earlier gang 

fight and that when they returned to the scene, the codefendant shot the 

victim. Vincent, 131 Wn.App. at 155. The appellate court held that the 

admission of Speek's testimony violated Mr. Vincent's rights under 

Bruton because there were only two participants in the crime and Speek 

testified that there was only one "other guy" with the codefendant 

before, during, and after the shooting: 

Here, there were only two participants in the crimes and 
only two defendants. On direct examination, Speek 
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testified repeatedly that there was only one "other guy" 
with Vinson before, during, and after the shooting of 
Thomas. As in Vannoy, the only reasonable inference the 
jury could have drawn from Speek's references to the 
"other guy" was that the other guy was Vidal. The 
redaction thus failed in its purpose, and admission of 
Speek's testimony in the joint trial violated Vidal's rights 
under Bruton. 

Vincent, 131 Wn.App. at 154. 

More recently, in Fisher, supra, the State inserted the term" the 

first guy" for the defendant Trosclair's name in codefendant Fisher's 

statement. 338 P.3d at 898. The Court of Appeals found this to be an 

insufficient redaction because the record revealed it would be easy for 

the jury to infer that the "first guy" was Trosclair. Id. at 900-01. 

Here, as in Vincent, there were only two defendant's and 

codefendant's statements referred as they did in Vincent to the "other 

guy." The implication to the jury, as it was in Vincent, was that the 

"other guy" was Mr. Ahmed. Thus, the admission of Mr. Mohamed's 

statements violated Mr. Ahmed's right to confrontation under Bruton. 

3. The limiting instruction was insufficient to cleanse the taint 
from Mr. Mohamed's statements. 

The trial court was of the opinion that a limiting instruction 

rather than redaction was sufficient to cleanse the taint of Mr. 

Mohamed's incriminating statements. A limiting instruction without 
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more is never sufficient to purge any prejudice from the admission of a 

codefendant's hearsay statements. Bruton, 391 U.S. at 128-29, 135-37. 

A limiting instruction is ineffective and severance is appropriate 

only when testimony includes "powerfully incriminating extrajudicial 

statements of a codefendant." State v. Dent, 123 Wn.2d 467, 486, 869 

P.2d 392 (1994), quoting Bruton, 391 U.S. at 135-36.3 

The limiting instruction here was ineffective because the court 

failed to eliminate any reference to Mr. Ahmed as required by 

Richardson and Bruton. 

4. The error in admitting Mr. Mohamed's statement 
implicating Mr. Ahmed was not a harmless error. 

The State has the burden of demonstrating beyond a reasonable 

doubt that a confrontation violation did not contribute to the verdict. 

Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 23-24, 87 S.Ct. 824, 17 L.Ed.2d 

705 (1967); see also Delaware v. Van Arsdall, 4 75 U.S. 673, 684, 106 

S.Ct. 1431, 89 L.Ed.2d 674 (1986) ("The correct inquiry is whether, 

assuming that the damaging potential of the cross-examination were 

fully realized, a reviewing court might nonetheless say that the error 

3 The Supreme Court narrowed its holding in Bruton somewhat in 
Richardson v. Marsh, where the Court held that the right of confrontation is not 
violated by the admission of a non-testifying codefendant's confession with a proper 
limiting instruction when, as here, the confession is redacted to eliminate not only the 
defendant's name, but any reference to his or her existence. 481 U.S. 200, 211, 107 
S.Ct. 1702, 95 L.Ed.2d 176 (1987). 
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was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt"); State v. Coristine, 1 77 

Wn.2d 370, 380, 300 P.3d 400 (2013). The remedy for a violation of 

the Confrontation Clause is reversal and remand for a new trial. Gray, 

523 U.S. at 197. 

While the evidence at trial was overwhelming as to the 

codefendant Mr. Mohamed, it was less so regarding Mr. Ahmed. While 

Mr. Hashi knew Mr. Mohamed, he did not know Mr. Ahmed, and on 

the night in question, he admitted he may have met Mr. Ahmed on one 

occasion. Following the incident, Mr. Hashi could only give the police 

a vague description of the other person who acted with Mr. Mohamed. 

It was not until a week following the incident that Mr. Hashi saw Mr. 

Ahmed and claimed Mr. Ahmed was Mr. Mohamed's accomplice in 

the robbery. This was far from overwhelming evidence. 

The fingerprint evidence allegedly tying Mr. Ahmed to Mr. 

Hashi's car also is less substantial than at first blush. Fingerprint 

analysis by human fingerprint examiners has been criticized in the 

National Academy of Sciences in a Congressionally mandated study: 

ACE-V provides a broadly stated framework for 
conducting friction ridge analyses. However, this 
framework is not specific enough to qualify as a 
validated method for this type of analysis. ACE-V does 
not guard against bias; is too broad to ensure 
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repeatability and transparency; and does not guarantee 
that two analysts following it will obtain the same 
results. For these reasons, merely following the steps of 
ACE-V does not imply that one is proceeding in a 
scientific manner or producing reliable results. A recent 
paper by Haber and Haber presents a thorough analysis 
of the ACE-V method and its scientific validity. Their 
conclusion is unambiguous: "We have reviewed 
available scientific evidence of the validity of the ACE
Y method and found none." 

National Academy of Sciences, Strengthening Forensic Sciences in the 

United States, A Path Fonvard, 142-45 (2009), citing J.L. Mnookin, 

The validity of latent fingerprint identification: Confessions of a 

fingerprinting moderate. Law, Probability and Risk 7:127 (2008). Thus, 

instead of being the infallible piece of evidence it once was, fingerprint 

analysis simply cannot be considered a substantial piece of evidence 

any further. 

The admission of Mr. Mohamed's statement implicating Mr. 

Ahmed violated Mr. Ahmed's constitutionally protected right to 

confrontation and the admission of the statement was not a harmless 

error. Mr. Ahmed asks this Court to reverse his conviction. 
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F. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons stated, Mr. Ahmed asks this Court to reverse his 

conviction and remand for a new trial.