72390-1

NO. 72390-1-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

MOHAMED AHMED,

Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY

THE HONORABLE WILLIAM L. DOWNING

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

KRISTIN A. RELYEA
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
Attorneys for Respondent

King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 477-9497

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

C. ARGUMENT

1. AHMED'S RIGHT TO CONFRONTATION WAS NOT VIOLATED.

Ahmed argues that the admission of Mohamed's statements violated his right to confrontation. His claim fails for two reasons. First, Mohamed's statements to Hashi were non-testimonial and therefore did not implicate the Confrontation Clause. Second, even if the admission of Mohamed's statements violated Ahmed's right to confrontation, any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

a. Mohamed's Non-Testimonial Statements Did Not Implicate <u>Bruton</u>.⁷

Under the Sixth Amendment, a criminal defendant has the right to confront the witnesses against him. This right has particular significance in the context of codefendants when one defendant has made statements to police implicating another defendant.

State v. Wilcoxon, 185 Wn. App. 534, 540, 341 P.3d 1019 (2015), review granted, __ Wn.2d __, No. 91331-5 (June 4, 2015) (citing Bruton v. United States, 391 U.S. 123, 88 S. Ct. 1620, 20 L. Ed. 2d 476 (1968)). In Bruton, the court ruled that Bruton's confrontation

⁷ Bruton v. United States, 391 U.S. 123, 88 S. Ct. 1620, 20 L. Ed. 2d 476 (1968).

rights were violated when a codefendant's statement, implicating Bruton, was admitted into evidence, despite the fact that the trial court provided the jury with a limiting instruction telling them that the statement could only be considered against the codefendant.

391 U.S. at 124-26. The court suggested that severing the codefendants' trials, or redacting any reference to the codefendant, could serve as effective remedies. Id. at 131-34.

Following <u>Bruton</u>, Washington adopted CrR 4.4(c), which requires severance when a codefendant's statement refers to another defendant unless the prosecutor does not offer the statement into evidence, or the statement is properly redacted to eliminate any prejudice to the moving defendant. <u>State v. Hoffman</u>, 116 Wn.2d 51, 75, 804 P.2d 577 (1991). Although Ahmed sought to sever his trial on this basis below, he has not assigned error to, or otherwise challenged, the trial court's denial of his severance motion on appeal.

In recent years, the Supreme Court has clarified the contours of the Confrontation Clause, and held that it applies only to testimonial statements made by an out-of-court declarant.

Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 51-54, 124 S. Ct. 1354, 158

L. Ed. 2d 177 (2004). Following Crawford, the Washington

Supreme Court recognized that "the common thread" defining testimonial statements as such in <u>Crawford</u> "was some degree of involvement by a government official," such as a police officer; non-testimonial statements, by contrast, are defined as "casual remarks made to family, friends, and nongovernment agents . . . because they were not made in contemplation of bearing formal witness against the accused." <u>State v. Shafer</u>, 156 Wn.2d 381, 389, 128 P.3d 87, <u>cert. denied</u>, 549 U.S. 1019 (2006).

After Crawford, several Washington, state, and federal courts have recognized that because Bruton and its progeny are based on the protections afforded by the Confrontation Clause, Bruton must be viewed "through the lens of Crawford." State v. DeLeon, 185 Wn. App. 171, 208, 341 P.3d 315 (2014) (quoting United States v. Figueroa-Cartagena, 612 F.3d 69, 85 (1st Cir. 2010)); Wilcoxon, 185 Wn. App. at 541-42; People v. Arceo, 195 Cal. App. 4th 556, 574-75, 125 Cal. Rptr. 3d 436, cert. denied, 132 S. Ct. 851 (2011); United States v. Smalls, 605 F.3d 765, 768 n.2 (10th Cir. 2010); United States v. Johnson, 581 F.3d 320, 326 (6th Cir. 2009), cert. denied, 560 U.S. 966 (2010). Consequently, these courts have concluded that Bruton's restriction on the admission of inculpatory statements by a jointly tried codefendant applies only to

testimonial hearsay.⁸ <u>DeLeon</u>, 185 Wn. App. at 208; <u>Wilcoxon</u>, 185 Wn. App. at 541-42; <u>Arceo</u>, 195 Cal. App. 4th at 574-75; <u>Smalls</u>, 605 F.3d at 768 n.2; <u>Johnson</u>, 581 F.3d at 326.

Here, Ahmed's <u>Bruton</u> claim fails because the challenged statements were not testimonial in nature. Mohamed's statements arguably implicating Ahmed were not made to a police officer, but to Hashi, the crime victim, in an attempt to dissuade him from testifying in court. 5RP 68; 6RP 58. No government official was involved, and a reasonable person would not believe that the statements would be used against Ahmed for the prosecution of a crime. <u>Bruton</u> does not apply because Mohamed's statements were not testimonial, *i.e.*, they were not "made in contemplation of bearing formal witness against" Ahmed. <u>Shafer</u>, 156 Wn.2d at 389.

Given the weight of authority recognizing that <u>Bruton</u> applies only to testimonial statements, Ahmed's efforts to analogize his case to <u>State v. Vincent</u>, 131 Wn. App. 147, 120 P.3d 120 (2005), and <u>State v. Fisher</u>, 184 Wn. App. 766, 338 P.3d 897 (2014), are unpersuasive. In <u>Vincent</u>, this Court held that the admission of a codefendant's statement to a jail inmate referencing the "other guy,"

⁸ Notably, the <u>Bruton</u> court would likely reach the same result today, post-<u>Crawford</u>, because the codefendant's statements in <u>Bruton</u> were to a postal inspector, and thereby "testimonial." 391 U.S. at 124.

when there were only two participants in the crimes and two defendants on trial, violated <u>Bruton</u> without any discussion of whether the statements were "testimonial" under <u>Crawford</u>.

131 Wn. App. at 154. Given that <u>Vincent</u> was decided one year after <u>Crawford</u>, without the benefit of the last decade of United States and Washington Supreme Court jurisprudence interpreting <u>Crawford</u>, it would likely be decided differently today.

Regardless, <u>Vincent</u> should not be read to stand for the *implied* proposition that <u>Crawford</u> does not apply to <u>Bruton</u>, and that non-testimonial statements implicating a codefendant violate the Confrontation Clause. Ahmed does not make such a claim, nor does he make any mention of the substantial body of authority concluding that <u>Bruton</u> does not apply to non-testimonial statements.

Ahmed's reliance on <u>Fisher</u> is also unavailing because the statements challenged in that case, and held in violation of <u>Bruton</u>, were made by the codefendant to an "[i]nvestigator," and thus were presumably "testimonial." 184 Wn. App. at 769. Although the court did not discuss <u>Crawford</u> and its application to <u>Bruton</u>, its holding fits within Crawford's "testimonial" framework.

The trial court's admission of Mohamed's non-testimonial statements to Hashi did not violate Ahmed's Confrontation Clause rights. Ahmed's <u>Bruton</u> claim should be rejected.

b. Any Error Was Harmless Beyond A Reasonable Doubt.

Even if this Court concludes that the admission of Mohamed's statements to Hashi violated the confrontation clause, the error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. An error of constitutional magnitude is harmless if the reviewing court is convinced, beyond a reasonable doubt, that it did not contribute to the verdict. Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 24, 87 S. Ct. 824, 17 L. Ed. 2d 705 (1967).

Here, strong untainted evidence linked Ahmed to the robbery. First, Hashi had seen Ahmed four or five times before the robbery and knew that Ahmed referred to himself as being from Ohio. 5RP 19, 57-58. Hashi saw Ahmed outside of a store and immediately called 911, reporting, "The guy robbed [sic] my car is here. Please hurry up. If he sees me he will run away." 5RP 58. When officers responded shortly thereafter, they found Hashi waving his arms, pointing at the store, and yelling excitedly, "He's here, he's here." 5RP 198-99. As Ahmed exited the store, Hashi

pointed and said, "That's him, that's him." 5RP 200. The timing, circumstances, and certainty with which Hashi identified Ahmed are compelling evidence that Ahmed perpetrated the crime.

Further, Ahmed's fingerprints were found inside Hashi's car under the interior driver's side door handle, despite his statement that he was "100% sure" that his fingerprints would not be inside the car. 6RP 107; Ex. 16 at 5:31-44. Two latent print examiners separately analyzed the fingerprints using the ACE-V fingerprint identification method, and concluded that they belonged to Ahmed. 5RP 184; 6RP 107. The second print examiner, who performed the verification process, testified that she performed her own independent analysis and that she agreed with the first examiner's conclusions. 5RP 184. Under cross-examination, the examiner testified that she had past experiences where she had disagreed with other examiners' conclusions during the verification process, suggesting that she took her obligations seriously, and that she did not simply "rubber stamp" the first examiner's conclusion. 5RP 188-90.

Despite this testimony, Ahmed attempts to cast doubt on the weight of the fingerprint evidence based on a 2009 study discussing the limits of latent print friction ridge analysis. Notably,

this same study recognizes that "[h]istorically, friction ridge analysis has served as a valuable tool, both to identify the guilty and to exclude the innocent." Nat'l Research Council of the Nat'l Acad. of Sciences, Strengthening Forensic Science in the United States:

A Path Forward, at 142 (2009), https://www.ncjrs.gov/pdffiles1/nij/grants/228091.pdf. Further, the same study notes that "a careful comparison of two impressions *can* accurately discern whether or not they had a common source." Id. (emphasis added).

Thus, the 2009 study does not stand for the broad proposition claimed by Ahmed, that "fingerprint analysis simply cannot be considered a substantial piece of evidence any further." Br. of Appellant at 13. This Court recently considered the same study and rejected the defendant's claim, that based on the study, the ACE-V fingerprint identification method is no longer generally accepted within the scientific community. State v. Piggott, 181 Wn. App. 247, 248-51, 325 P.3d 247 (2014).

Moreover, another court considering the same study and the Habers' paper that it relied on, recognized that "on the critical issue of erroneous positive identifications," the Habers surveyed the literature and calculated that the error rate ranges from a low of "zero to 0.4% to 1% to a high of only 3%." <u>United States v. Rose</u>,

672 F. Supp. 2d 723, 726 (D. Md. 2009). Given this, the court concluded that "there is nothing to contradict the conclusion reached by many courts and other experts that the incidence of error in the sense of erroneous misidentification . . . is extremely rare." Id. Thus, the presence of Ahmed's fingerprints inside Hashi's car is weighty evidence, particularly since the car was recovered two hours after the robbery. 6RP 86.

Additionally, other circumstantial evidence connected Ahmed to the crime. Police found Hashi's car within blocks of Ahmed's home. Ex. 36; 6RP 133. Further, Hashi testified that while being robbed, one of the robbers said, "I'm from Ohio. I'm gangster," and Ahmed admitted to being from Ohio. 5RP 43, 213.

The likelihood that Ahmed may have been prejudiced by Mohamed's brief references to the "other guy" is minimal given the substance of Mohamed's limited statements. According to Hashi and the Somali interpreter who testified at trial, Mohamed referenced the "other guy" in an effort to dissuade Hashi from testifying with the promise that Mohamed would help Hashi get the "other guy." 5RP 68 (Hashi testifying that Mohamed had said, "I did not take your car. The other guy is in jail . . . I can work with you to find him to prove (phonetic) him"); 6RP 58 (interpreter testifying that

Mohamed said "I will be sentenced to 20 years in jail if you point me out. He's arrested. I can help you with him. I can help you telling what he did."). At no point, did Mohamed name the "other guy," provide any identifying details about him, or provide a clear explanation of what the "other guy" had done.

Unlike other Confrontation Clause cases involving a <u>Bruton</u> error, Mohamed's references to the "other guy" were limited in both frequency and scope. <u>See Vincent</u>, 131 Wn. App. at 151 (witness made "repeated references" to "the other guy," and testified "in detail" about the codefendant's account of the shooting and the surrounding events); <u>Fisher</u>, 184 Wn. App. at 775 (codefendant provided several identifying details about the "first guy" from which "the only reasonable inference the jury could have drawn was that [the defendant] was the 'first guy'").

Weighing the low probative value of Mohamed's statements regarding the "other guy," against the ample other untainted evidence against Ahmed – specifically, Hashi's identification of Ahmed shortly after the robbery, Ahmed's fingerprints inside Hashi's car, the close proximity of Hashi's car to Ahmed's residence, and Ahmed's admitted ties to Ohio – this Court can

conclude that any error caused by admitting the challenged statements was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

D. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Court should affirm Ahmed's

conviction.